CITY OF WOLVERHAMPTON COUNCIL

# Adults and Safer City Scrutiny Panel

Minutes - 15 September 2020

### Attendance

#### Members of the Adults and Safer City Scrutiny Panel

Cllr Olivia Birch Cllr Val Evans (Chair) Cllr Rupinderjit Kaur Cllr Sohail Khan Cllr Asha Mattu Cllr Lynne Moran Cllr Anwen Muston Cllr Zee Russell

#### **Employees**

Julia Cleary Lynsey Kelly Earl Piggott-Smith Martin Stevens David Watts Becky Wilkinson Systems and Scrutiny Manager Head of Community Safety Scrutiny Officer Scrutiny Officer Director of Adult Services Head of Service Adult Improvement

## Part 1 – items open to the press and public

#### Item No. Title

#### 1 Welcome and Introductions

Cllr Val Evans, Chair, welcomed everyone to the virtual meeting and advised it was being live streamed to the press and public. Cllr Evans advised that she was not expecting any exempt or restricted items on the agenda. A recording of the meeting would be available for viewing on the Council's website at a future date.

#### 2 Meeting procedures to be followed

Cllr Evans explained the protocol to be followed during the meeting for asking questions and reminded everyone that microphones should be muted and cameras off, unless they have been invited to speak. Earl Piggott-Smith, Scrutiny Officer, invited all attendees to introduce themselves to confirm they were present at the meeting.

Please note that the following offices were also in attendance at the meeting

David Watt Becky Wilkinson Lynsey Kelly Hannah Pawley Julia Cleary Martin Stevens

#### 3 Apologies

Apologies were received from the following member of the panel:

• Cllr John Rowley

#### 4 **Declarations of Interest**

There were no declarations of interest recorded.

#### 5 Minutes of previous meeting (28 January 2020)

The Scrutiny Officer advised the panel that for Agenda Item 7b references to Adult Services in the minutes should have been stated as Adult Education Services and not Adult Services.

The panel members voted and approved the minutes of the meeting held on 3 February 2020, subject to the amendment, as being a correct record.

#### 6 Matters arising

The Scrutiny Officer advised that a briefing paper drafted by Joanne Keatley, Head of Adult Education Service, was recently sent to panel members in response to comments raised at the meeting on the 28 January 2020.

# 7 Update on the response of Adult Services to the Covid-19 crisis and future plans

Cllr Evans invited David Watts, Director of Adult Services and Becky Wilkinson, Head of Service Adult Improvement to present their report on response of Adult Services to the Covid-19 crisis and future plans.

The Director of Adult Services outlined the context for the presentation about explained how the service has worked closely with care providers throughout the City to manage the response to the Covid 19 pandemic. In addition, the service has also worked closely with colleagues in Public Health in developing an approach to protecting people, particularly those living in care settings.

The Director of Adult Services detailed the range of specific work done to support care providers, for example, regular communication, the provision of sufficient stocks of protective equipment and the safe arrangements for the discharge of people from hospital to care homes.

The Director of Adult Services advised the panel that he also has responsibility for arranging Public Health funerals and the provision of infection prevention personal protective equipment to care homes.

The Director of Adult Services commented on the challenges that the service faced in providing sufficient supplies of protective equipment stocks towards the end of February and during March 2020 at the peak of the pandemic.

The service was able to build on the previous good working relationships with the Royal Wolverhampton Hospital trust (RWHT) in managing the discharge of people with social care needs back into the community with the added challenge of responding to the frequency of new national guidance being issued to the sector.

The panel were reassured that the correct systems were in place to safely discharge people from hospital either into their own home or into a non-acute care setting. The service has been working extremely closely with the infection prevention team and the rapid intervention treatment service managed by RWHT. This work has helped to put the service in a good position during a period when the number of Covid 19 cases was becoming more prevalent both within the care home setting and the wider community. The Director of Adult Services advised the panel of the detailed planning work ongoing with key partners in care and health sectors to respond the ongoing challenges presented by the pandemic.

The Director of Adult Services invited Becky Wilkinson, Head of Service Adult Improvement, to outline the specific work on infection prevention control done to support residential care homes during the pandemic.

The Head of Service Adult Improvement advised the panel about plans for supporting residential care was developed rapidly in response to the outbreak of Covid 19, for example the bulk purchasing of protective equipment and the offer of infection prevention training to care staff. This work was supported by daily meetings with care providers at the start of the outbreak which provided an opportunity to discuss any specific concerns.

A clinical lead has been appointed within each care home with the aim of trying to prevent a care resident from needing a hospital visit by looking at safe alternatives where they could be treated. This work is supported by other initiatives for example, a proactive community swabbing programme. The programme involves training of the staff in care homes in how do swabs safely.

The Head of Service Adult Improvement advised that a national portal for care staff to book a Covid 19 test opened on 7 September 2020 but where staff are having problems getting a test booked, there is a local alternative available. To reduce the risk of disease transmission the current focus of the service is on care home staff not moving between homes.

The Head of Service Adult Improvement advised the panel of significant challenges at the start of the pandemic of getting sufficient stocks of protective equipment where it was needed. However, as a result of a collective effort across various Council departments considerable progress has been made to resolve this issue. The panel was advised that a million pieces of personal protective equipment (PPE) has been distributed across the City since the start of the pandemic.

The Head of Service Adult Improvement added that there is expected to be an increasing need for PPE throughout the winter as we head into the flu season. A strategy is being developed to have access to the necessary funding during this period. The strategy has involved further building on the close working relationship with local health partners and to provide care home providers with the advice and support needed.

The Head of Service Adult Improvement gave examples of the work done with colleagues in the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) to get all care homes registered with an NHS email which has made it easier for them to be updated on new guidance quickly. In March the figure was below 50 per cent.

The Government announced the creation of a prevention fund of £600m in May 2020. Wolverhampton received £3.2m allocation from the fund and of this award £2.4m went directly to Care Home providers to pay for infection prevention work as per Government guidance.

To receive funding the care home has to be registered on a capacity tracker system which requires them to give data on the number of beds and infections to better manage the infection. This work has been supported by training provided by the CCG with the aim of keeping infection prevention under control in the care home sector. The training has covered how to take off PPE and what care staff need to know about cleaning the home to reduce the risk of infection transmission.

The Head of Service Adult Improvement advised the panel that the service has responsibility for arranging public health funerals when there is no one willing to make plans. The number of public health funerals has increased in quarter one from 8 to 13 cases.

The Head of Service Adult Improvement advised the panel that currently there are 686 residents in and care staff in self-isolation on 1 April 2020. At this time there were 13 confirmed cases and 160 suspected cases. As at 4 September the number of confirmed cases had reduced to 1 and there were 3 suspected cases and 4 people in self-isolation.

The service is working with the care homes concerned to improve infection prevention arrangements and to restrict non-urgent visits which has led to a reduction in the number of cases.

The Head of Service Adult Improvement praised the excellent response from the social care sector and the whole Council to set up the food distribution hub and the work done on the 'stay safe be kind' helpline and the important learning gained from joint working that will help to improve future practice.

The Director of Adult Services briefed the panel on the changes introduced by the Care Act Easements to allow Adult Social Care Directors to make decisions in consultation with other interested parties if changes were needed to be made about how the service would meet its statutory responsibilities. The Director of Adult Services gave examples of how new technology has been used to complete care assessments.

The Director of Adult Services advised the panel of the work being done locally in response to the increase nationally in the rate of Covid 19 cases and the plans for managing a second-wave. The panel were advised of the risk to the City of a local lockdown based on the increased number of local cases. The panel were reassured that work is being done across the Council and with other providers to better understand the potential impact on how services are delivered in the future.

In view of the changing situation the Council is recommending in guidance to care home providers that only essential health related visits or on compassionate grounds should be allowed to reduce the risk of spreading the infection.

The Director of Adult Services acknowledged the importance of visits to residents from friends and family members but highlighted the need to protect them during a period of increasing rates of infection.

The Council is offering care home staff flu jabs as part of it winter planning arrangements and is working with public health colleagues to improve testing capacity. In addition, a series of provider forums has been setup to allow care staff to share their experiences.

The panel thanked both presenters. The panel highlighted the importance of good communication to explain to family members the reasons for restricting visits and welcomed the work done by the service.

The panel expressed concern about the reported delays in care staff getting test results quickly and more generally issues about getting tests booked through the national scheme when needed. The panel wanted reassurance that everything is being done to prevent the risk of transmission in care homes settings.

The panel also wanted assurance that people who are discharged from hospital to a care home are being tested for Covid 19 before they are admitted.

The Head of Service Adult Improvement advised the panel that patients are tested for Covid 19 within 48 hours of being discharged from hospital. However, regardless of the test results new residents are placed in isolation for 14 days when they move from hospital to a different care setting. In addition, funding from the infection prevention fund is available to care home providers to make sure that people are not mixing between floors during the first 14 days and that the right processes are in place to reduce the risk.

The service is working with homes to avoid people between care homes, unless it is considered to be essential. If a care home is not able to meet the needs of a resident then arrangements are made for any move to be done safely.

The panel discussed delays in getting test results and wanted an update on the current situation. The Head of Service Adult Improvement advised the panel some test results are returned in less than 48 hours, but it can take up seven days, depending on the when the test swabs are collected.

The Head of Service Adult Improvement advised the panel that the service has encouraged care home providers to use the national portal scheme to book a test, which is the best way of doing this. In addition, there are local testing arrangements which can be used to meet demand. The test kits are delivered by courier and are self-administered and then will be collected to be tested.

However, the current challenge is the limits on laboratory testing capacity which has been highlighted as a national issue.

The panel queried the financial support available to minimise the impact on care workers who are required to self-isolate and the problems this may cause. Lynsey Kelly, Head of Community Safety, advised the panel that £3.2m received by the Council for infection prevention fund is allocated on the basis of the number of beds in each care home. However, the funds can also be used to pay care staff above statutory sick pay levels to top-up a carers wages when they are self-isolating.

Care providers who get money from the infection prevention fund are required to sign up to a number of specific conditions about supporting care staff who have to selfisolate. There is currently a work being done to review how this scheme is working in practice.

The panel suggested that the impact of the current guidance to care homes on allowing visitors could be added to the work programme for a review at a future meeting. A copy could also be shared with the panel for information.

The Director of Adult Services advised the panel that there is a dedicated Council website page on the Covid 19 resources which has links to this information. The Council has provided extra guidance to care home providers to help them develop safe arrangement and supporting them to do their own risk assessment. The visiting arrangements will vary between care homes, but all are expected to follow the latest national guidance.

The panel queried if the information on the website is available in other languages or have reading difficulties. The Director of Adult Services advised the panel that the information is not currently published in different languages but was happy for panel to suggest how the Council can work with community groups to translate the information that can better their needs. The current information could then be translated into a shorter document. The panel were advised the Wolverhampton Homes has produced online resources that could be added to the Council website.

The Head of Community Safety in reference to an earlier discussion about financial impact on care home staff who are required to self-isolate advised the panel that there is a trial scheme for people getting working tax credits or Universal Credit to get an extra payment of about £13 a day. The scheme, if considered successful, will be rolled out nationally with the aim of supporting people on low wages.

The panel agreed to receive an update on progress in providing information in different languages to a future meeting.

The panel discussed the challenge facing people who are cannot book a test locally and are having to travel some distance as a result and the specific issue of not being able to get children returned to school until they have been tested.

The Director of Adult Services advised the panel that he is leading a group on dealing with testing issues and accepted that there is not enough national laboratory testing capacity to process samples in a timely manner. The demand for testing slots is very high, which is presents a challenge for people who are asymptomatic who want to be tested.

The Council is lobbying Government to increase national laboratory testing and during a call with the Department of Health and Social Care it was stated that there is further work being done to increase testing capacity, but in the short term other local arrangements have been made to allow pupils and teachers to be tested.

The panel discussed the work done to reduce the lessen the risk to people who in care homes who are most vulnerable. The Director of Adult Services advised the panel that the Council has data on the high risks and explained the work with colleagues in Public Health around managing individual risks in care homes. In addition, work is also being done to think about the risks to black and minority ethnic health of care workers.

The aim is to ensure that the workers in these groups are protected and that this is supported by having the correct risk assessment plans in place. The learning from work done on risk assessments within the Council is being shared with the care sector.

Resolved:

The panel agreed to receive an update on progress in providing on line resources on Covid 19 in different community languages to a future meeting.

#### 8 Supporting our Community

Lynsey Kelly, Head of Community Safety, presented a report on the work of the community safety team and also the wider work done to support vulnerable people in the community since the start of the pandemic.

The Head of Community Safety advised the panel that at the start of the pandemic the Government developed a shielding list of chronic vulnerable residents who would be required to shield for a period initially of 12 weeks. However, the Council also identified a further 28,000 residents who should be added to the shielding list and therefore qualify for national support, for example, food delivery.

The Council has also worked with the CCG to identify other residents who may be also be classified as vulnerable who have been added to this list. In total, 80,000 Wolverhampton residents were identified across the city who may need additional support to remain safe during that initial 12-week period. A letter was sent to the everyone on the list advising them to be extremely careful when out and about and the support available to them, which included providing access to food and medical support and health and well-being support if required.

The scheme was expanded later with support from Children's Services to look at over 14,000 financially disadvantaged families who were identified as needing more support. The Leader of the Council was keen that the welfare of residents was to be the main priority during the pandemic. A range of initiatives were quickly introduced such as the 'Stay Safe be Kind' call centre helpline. The Head of Community Safety highlighted the important role of the community and voluntary sector in supporting local residents, for example helping with shopping and the collection of medicine.

The call centre was delivered with the help of redeployed workers across a range of different services. During a three-month period, the call centre received over 16,000 calls and emails for people wanting support.

The valuable contributions of local business, Wolverhampton Homes and Wolverhampton Wanderers Foundation Trust in helping to set up the Food Distribution Hub was acknowledged.

The Head of Community Safety advised the panel of the range of other initiatives to provide information in different languages and to make services accessible to people who are deaf and hard of hearing. There is also work being done with other agencies across the city to ensure the Council continues to provide essential services to children and young people, for example The Virtual Squad and distribution of activity packs and games. Base 25 has been commissioned to do outreach work to engage with young people on the streets.

The Head of Community Safety advised the panel of work done with colleagues at The Haven to offer a range of support to families experiencing domestic abuse. The number of reported cases during lockdown was lower than expected and this may suggest people were finding it difficult to disclose domestic abuse. The number of reported cases has increased since lockdown restrictions were eased earlier in the year. The service has work with DCLG and local support services to increase the number of emergency bed spaces and also provide extra funding to meet extra costs arising from introducing Covid 19 preventative measures.

The Head of Community Safety advised the panel that the service has worked with the West Midlands Police and Crime Commissioner on a regional domestic violence campaign. The campaign is aimed at encouraging people to report domestic violence. In addition, work is being led by the Homelessness Team to ensure that suitable accommodation and refuges are available for those who need to leave their home.

The Head of Community Safety advised the panel about the range of work done with local faith organisations across the City. The work is supported by weekly meetings with different groups.

Resolved: The panel agreed to note the report.

9 Adults and Safer City Scrutiny Panel 2019 20 - Draft Work Programme Julia Cleary, Scrutiny and Systems Manager, presented the draft work programme and explained the new approach agreed at Scrutiny Board meeting for all panels to consider the cross-cutting theme of 'Connected City' and digital considerations when developing ideas for the work programme.

The Scrutiny and Systems Manager outlined the list of suggested topics for future meetings of the panel based on discussions with the Chair and Vice Chair of the panel.

The panel were invited to comment on the draft work programme and to suggest ideas, following the guidance, of topics that could be added.

The panel suggested that the issue of fly-tipping could be added to the work programme due to concerns raised by residents. The issue consider what further work can be done to improve the situation. The panel suggested that the issue of loneliness and the how technology is being used to meet this need could also be added to the panel work programme. The panel discussed the importance of people living in care settings having access to personal contact to meet their social needs and also the skills needed to use new technology to communicate.

The Director of Adult Care Services outlined the workforce changes which have been introduced following lockdown and also how the service is having to work differently and more flexibly to meet the needs of different groups.

#### Resolved

The panel agreed to note the report and the suggestions for future work programme topics.